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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

Julie Dermansky,  

  plaintiff, 

versus 

Hayride Media, LLC, 

  defendant. 

Civil Action No. 22-cv-3491 

Section        Division  

District Judge  

Magistrate Judge  

Jury Trial Requested 
  

COMPLAINT 

To support this Complaint, the plaintiff alleges the following against the defendant: 

Nature of the Action 

1. This is an action for direct copyright infringement and for the violation of rights 

under Section 1202 of the U.S. Copyright Act resulting from the unauthorized re-

moval and/or alteration of Copyright Management Information (“CMI”), as that 

term is defined under 17 U.S.C. § 1202. Plaintiff sues in response to the unauthorized 

use of her original copyrighted photographs and other copyright violations by the 

defendant through its website, thehayride.com. 

Parties 

2. Appearing as plaintiff is Julie Dermansky (“Dermansky”), a natural person of the 

full age of majority and a citizen of the State of Louisiana.  

3. Named as defendant is Hayride Media, LLC (“Hayride”), a juridical person orga-

nized in and under the laws of the State of Louisiana, with a registered office in East 

Baton Rouge Parish, Louisiana.  

Jurisdiction 

4. Subject matter. This Court has original jurisdiction over civil actions arising under 

any Act1 of Congress relating to copyrights. 28 U.S.C. § 1338(a). Actions “arise 

 
1 Here, 17 U.S.C. § 101, et seq. (“Copyright 
Act” or the “Act”). 
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under” the Copyright Act if the complaint seeks a remedy granted by the Act, asserts 

a claim requiring construction of the Act, or presents a case where a distinctive policy 

of the Act requires that federal principles control the disposition of the claim.  

5. And where copyrightability, ownership, or right to use is placed at issue, § 1338(a) 

jurisdiction is exclusive because claim resolution involves the application and inter-

pretation of the Act.  

6. This case is the prototypical case invoking federal jurisdiction because it involves 

requests for injunctive relief, finding of infringement, and an award of actual dam-

ages, which are provided for in the Act and which turn on an analysis of the dis-

memberments of “ownership” in copyright, a distinctly federal concept. 

7. Subject matter jurisdiction is not only proper in this Court, it is exclusive in this 

Court as to the matters described in ¶¶ 4-6, above.  

8. Personal. This court has personal jurisdiction over Hayride because it was served 

through its registered agent in, is registered to do and does business in, has appointed 

an agent for service of process in, is comprised of members who are citizens of, the 

State of Louisiana. 

Venue 

9. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)(1) because Hayride is deemed to reside 

in this judicial district based on the Court’s ability to exercise personal jurisdiction 

over it. See § 1391(c)(2). Venue is also proper under § 1391(b)(2) because a sub-

stantial part of the events giving rise to Dermansky’s claims occurred, and a substan-

tial part of the property that is the subject of this action is situated, in this judicial 

district.  

10. Venue is also proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1400(a) because Dermansky’s is a civil action 

arising under the Copyright Act and Hayride or its agent(s) reside [see § 1391(c)(2)] 

or may be found in this judicial district.  
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Background Facts 

11. Dermansky. Since 2008, and at all relevant times, Dermansky has provided profes-

sional commercial photography services, specializing in political figures, social in-

justice, and environmental matters. 

12. Dermansky charges and invoices her clients for the cost of her services, and licenses 

her photographs for use by such clients according to limitations specified under her 

written and oral licensing agreements. Dermansky also licenses her photographs for 

uses in print and on the Internet. 

13. The Groby and Chambers Photographs. In 2014, Dermansky shot a photograph of 

former St. Tammany Councilman Jake Groby before a council meeting (the “Groby 

Photograph”). Attached as Exhibit A is a copy of the Groby Photograph as depicted 

on DeSmogblog.com, (now called “DeSmog.com”), a news site focused on issues 

related to climate change, to which Dermansky is a frequent contributor and which 

is an authorized user of the Groby Photograph. 

14. In 2016, Dermansky shot a photograph of community activist Gary Chambers vis-

iting the flooded neighborhood of Glen Oaks (the “Chambers Photograph”). At-

tached as Exhibit B is a copy of the Chambers Photograph as depicted on Derman-

sky’s professional commercial photography website. Attached as Exhibit C is a copy 

of the Chambers Photograph as depicted on Reveal.com. 

15. Dermansky is the sole owner of the copyright in the Groby Photograph and effec-

tively registered the Groby Photograph with the U.S Copyright Office on March 24, 

2018, with the Reg. No. VA 2-100-104. Attached as Exhibit D is a copy of the 

registration certificate for the Groby Photograph.  

16. Dermansky is the sole owner of the copyright in the Chambers Photograph and ef-

fectively registered the Chambers Photograph with the U.S Copyright Office on July 

31, 2017, with the Reg. No. VA 2-061-265. Attached as Exhibit E is a copy of the 

registration certificate for the Chambers Photograph.  
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17. As shown on Exhibit A, Dermansky’s publication of the Groby Photograph on 

DeSmog.com included a copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership 

of the copyright in the Photograph to Dermansky, which constitutes Copyright Man-

agement Information (“CMI”) under 17 U.S.C. § 1202 (See Exhibit A, stating: “St. 

Tammany Councilman Jake Groby before a council meeting. ©2014 Julie Derman-

sky”). 

18. As shown on Exhibit B, Dermansky’s publication of the Chambers Photograph on 

Dermansky’s professional commercial photography website included a watermark 

and copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in 

the Photograph to Dermansky, which constitutes CMI under 17 U.S.C. § 1202 (See 

Exhibit B, stating: “Copyright ©2016 Julie Dermansky”). 

19. As shown on Exhibit C, Dermansky’s publication of the Chambers Photograph on 

Reveal.com included a copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership of 

the copyright in the Photograph to Dermansky, which constitutes CMI under 17 

U.S.C. § 1202 (See Exhibit C, stating: “Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal”). 

20. Hayride. Upon information and belief, Hayride operates the commercial website 

thehayride.com.  

21. The infringement. Upon information and belief, without authorization or permis-

sion, Hayride obtained the Groby Photograph from DeSmog.com downloaded it, 

cropped it, intentionally removed Dermansky’s CMI attributing authorship and 

ownership of the copyright in the Photograph to Dermansky, and published it on 

Hayride’s own website. Attached as Exhibit F are screen captures of the Hayride’s 

webpages displaying the Groby Photograph, which on information and belief were 

first published by Hayride on July 23, 2015 and July 27, 2015. 

22. Upon information and belief, without authorization or permission, Hayride ob-

tained the Chambers Photograph from Dermansky’s professional commercial pho-

tography website, downloaded it, cropped it, intentionally removed Dermansky’s 
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CMI attributing authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Photograph to 

Dermansky, and published it on Hayride’s own website. Attached as Exhibit G are 

screen captures of the Hayride’s webpages displaying the Chambers Photograph, 

which on information and belief were first published by Hayride on March 31, 2017, 

May 10, 2017, June 18, 2017, July 11, 2017, December 17, 2018, and May 7, 2019. 

23. Alternatively, upon information and belief, without authorization or permission, 

Hayride obtained the Chambers Photograph from an article posted to Reveal.com, 

downloaded it, cropped it, intentionally removed Dermansky’s CMI attributing au-

thorship and ownership of the copyright in the Photograph to Dermansky, and pub-

lished it on Hayride’s own website.  

24. No permission or license. Hayride did not ask Dermansky for permission to use the 

Groby Photograph. 

25. Hayride did not ask Dermansky for permission to use the Chambers Photograph. 

26. At the time of Hayride’s display and distribution of the Groby Photograph on its 

website, Dermansky had not granted Hayride any license or permission to repro-

duce, publicly display, or otherwise use the Groby Photograph for any purpose.  

27. At the time of Hayride’s display and distribution of the Chambers Photograph on 

its website, Dermansky had not granted Hayride any license or permission to repro-

duce, publicly display, or otherwise use the Chambers Photograph for any purpose. 

28. CMI removal/alteration. Although the publication of the Groby Photograph on 

DeSmog.com contained Dermansky’s CMI, Hayride intentionally removed and/or 

altered Dermansky’s CMI. 

29. Although the publication of the Chambers Photograph on Dermansky’s professional 

commercial photography website contained Dermansky’s CMI, Hayride intention-

ally removed and/or altered Dermansky’s CMI. 
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30. Alternatively, although the publication of the Chambers Photograph on Reveal.com 

contained Dermansky’s CMI, Hayride intentionally removed and/or altered Der-

mansky’s CMI. 

31. Besides the foregoing, by its unauthorized publication and display of the Groby Pho-

tograph, Hayride distributed copies of the Groby Photograph with its CMI having 

been removed and/or altered knowing that the CMI had been removed and/or al-

tered. 

32. Besides the foregoing, by its unauthorized publication and display of the Chambers 

Photograph, Hayride distributed copies of the Chambers Photograph with its CMI 

having been removed and/or altered knowing that the CMI had been removed and/or 

altered. 

33. Dermansky’s CCB claim. To reduce the cost of litigation for both parties, and receive 

expedited relief for her damages, Dermansky first filed her claims, (as further de-

tailed below), before the newly formed Copyright Claims Board (“CCB”), a tribunal 

of administrative judges within the copyright office designed to handle small claims 

under 17 U.S.C. § 1500 et seq. Attached as Exhibit H is a copy of Dermansky’s filing 

with the CCB, styled as 22-CCB-0007, Dermansky v. Hayride Media, LLC, without 

attachments. The CCB case filing required Dermansky to pay filing fees and caused 

her attorneys to dedicate additional time to preparing and submitting these filings. 

34. Hayride’s refusal to participate. Despite Dermansky’s attempt at a cost-efficient and 

streamlined conclusion to this matter in the CCB, Hayride opted out of those pro-

ceedings. 

35. To recover damages for Hayride’s infringement (which have only been compounded 

by the fees and efforts spent while attempting to resolve this matter in the CCB), 

Dermansky is now forced to sue in this Court to obtain the relief requested below. 

36. While Dermansky would have limited her monetary claims ($15,000/work or 

$30,000 total) and forego her Section 1202 remedies (CMI removal/alteration) to 
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participate in a streamlined CCB proceeding, because Hayride opted out of that pro-

ceeding, she is no longer willing to limit her remedies.  

37. Like many professional commercial photographers, Dermansky’s livelihood depends 

on revenue generated by licensing her original works for reproduction and public 

display. Regarding the Groby Photograph and the Chambers Photograph, the ac-

tions of Hayride have deprived Dermansky of such revenue and have caused signif-

icant monetary harm to Dermansky, threatening her livelihood. Dermansky sues to 

recover her damages. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
Direct Copyright Infringement 

17 U.S.C. §101, et seq. 

38. Dermansky incorporates by reference and realleges the allegations in paragraphs 1 

through 37, inclusive, as though fully set forth herein.  

39. The Groby Photograph is an original copyrightable work. 

40. Dermansky is the sole author and owner of the Groby Photograph. 

41. Dermansky has complied in all respects with 17 U.S.C. §101, et seq., and secured 

the exclusive rights in and ownership of the Groby Photograph, and has filed her 

registration of copyright in the Groby Photograph with the U.S. Copyright Office 

under its rules and regulations. Dermansky has received Registration No. VA 2-100-

104, with an effective registration date of March 24, 2018, a copy of which is at-

tached as Exhibit D.  

42. By publishing and displaying a copy of the Groby Photograph on its website, 

thehayride.com, in connection with articles titled, “Anti-Fracking St. Tammany 

Councilman’s Water Plant Has Tested Positive For Brain-Eating Ameba,” and 

“Your Water System Has Brain-Eating Amoeba, What Do You Do? Share Anti-

Fracking Propaganda On Facebook!”, Hayride has infringed Dermansky’s copyright 
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in the Groby Photograph by reproducing and publicly displaying the same, without 

Dermansky’s permission or authorization. 

43. Hayride has done so willfully and intentionally, with full knowledge of Dermansky’s 

copyright, in particular as demonstrated by Hayride’s unauthorized use of the Groby 

Photograph, which contained CMI, including Dermansky’s copyright notice. 

44. As a direct and proximate result of the copyright infringement detailed herein, Der-

mansky has been and continues to be damaged in an amount to be determined at 

trial. 

45. As a direct and proximate result of the copyright infringement detailed herein, 

Hayride has gained and/or will gain substantial profits because of its infringement 

in an amount unknown and to be determined at trial. 

46. Dermansky is entitled to recover her actual damages and any additional Hayride 

profits not calculated in the computation of her actual damages in an amount to be 

determined at trial under 17 U.S.C. § 504. 

47. In addition, Dermansky is entitled to recover costs under 17 U.S.C. § 505, including 

costs relating to filing the case 22-CCB-0007 in the CCB. 

48. In addition, Dermansky is entitled to permanent injunctive relief enjoining and re-

straining Hayrides from infringing her copyright under 17 U.S.C. § 502. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
Removal and/or Alteration of Copyright Management Information 

Digital Millennium Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §1202(b) 

49. Dermansky incorporates by reference and realleges the allegations in paragraphs 1 

through 48, inclusive, as though fully set forth herein. 

50. In association with her publication of the Groby Photograph on DeSmog.com, Der-

mansky included a copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the 

copyright in the Groby Photograph to Dermansky. 
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51. When Hayride obtained the Groby Photograph in an unauthorized manner from 

DeSmog.com, the Groby Photograph contained Dermansky’s copyright notice at-

tributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Groby Photograph 

to Dermansky. 

52. The foregoing constitutes CMI, in particular under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(c)(1), (c)(2), 

and (c)(3). 

53. Hayride removed and/or altered Dermansky’s CMI. 

54. Hayride’s removal and/or alteration of the CMI from the Groby Photograph, as de-

scribed herein, and in particular by removing Dermansky’s copyright notice, was 

committed intentionally. 

55. None of the acts removing and/or altering the CMI described were authorized by 

Dermansky or the law.  

56. Hayride reproduced, publicly displayed, and distributed the Groby Photograph in 

connection with a July 23, 2015 article titled, “Anti-Fracking St. Tammany Coun-

cilman’s Water Plant Has Tested Positive For Brain-Eating Ameba” (See Exhibit F).  

57. Further, Hayride’s distribution of the Groby Photograph, or copies thereof, was 

done knowing that the Groby Photograph’s CMI had been removed and/or altered 

without the authority of Dermansky or the law. 

58. Hayride committed the acts described knowing, or having reasonable grounds to 

know, that it would induce, enable, facilitate, and/or conceal an infringement of one 

more or more rights accorded to Dermansky under the U.S. Copyright Act. 

59. Based on the foregoing, Hayride is in violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3). 

60. Dermansky has suffered actual damages because of the acts complained of herein in 

an amount to be determined at trial.  

61. Hayride has gained profits attributable to the acts complained of herein in an 

amount unknown and to be determined at trial.  
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62. Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride her actual damages and any addi-

tional Hayride profits not considered in computing her actual damages under 17 

U.S.C § 1203(c)(2).  

63. And at her election, Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride, for each viola-

tion of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3), the full extent of which is unknown to 

Dermansky and which will be proven at trial, statutory damages of up to $25,000.00 

per violation under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(c)(3)(B).  

64. Dermansky is further entitled to recover her attorney’s fees and costs from Hayride 

under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1203(b)(4) and (b)(5), including costs relating to filing the case 

22-CCB-0007 in the CCB. 

65. Dermansky is also entitled to permanent injunctive relief to prevent or restrain fur-

ther violations of 17 U.S.C.§ 1202(b) under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(b)(1). 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
Removal and/or Alteration of Copyright Management Information 

Digital Millennium Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §1202(b) 

66. Dermansky incorporates by reference and realleges the allegations in paragraphs 1 

through 65, inclusive, as though fully set forth herein. 

67. In association with her publication of the Groby Photograph on DeSmog.com, Der-

mansky included a copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the 

copyright in the Groby Photograph to Dermansky. 

68. When Hayride obtained the Groby Photograph in an unauthorized manner from 

DeSmog.com, the Groby Photograph contained Dermansky’s copyright notice at-

tributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Groby Photograph 

to Dermansky. 

69. The foregoing constitutes CMI, in particular under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(c)(1), (c)(2), 

and (c)(3). 

70. Hayride removed and/or altered Dermansky’s CMI. 
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71. Hayride’s removal and/or alteration of the CMI from the Groby Photograph, and in 

particular by removing Dermansky’s copyright notice, was committed intentionally. 

72. None of the acts removing and/or altering the CMI described were authorized by 

Dermansky or the law.  

73. Hayride reproduced, publicly displayed, and distributed the Groby Photograph in 

connection with a July 27, 2015 article titled, “Your Water System Has Brain-Eating 

Amoeba, What Do You Do? Share Anti-Fracking Propaganda On Facebook!” (See 

Exhibit F).  

74. Further, Hayride’s distribution of the Groby Photograph, or copies thereof, was 

done knowing that the Groby Photograph’s CMI had been removed and/or altered 

without the authority of Dermansky or the law. 

75. Hayride committed the acts described knowing, or having reasonable grounds to 

know, that it would induce, enable, facilitate, and/or conceal an infringement of one 

more or more rights accorded to Dermansky under the U.S. Copyright Act. 

76. Hayride is in violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3). 

77. Dermansky has suffered actual damages because of the acts complained of herein in 

an amount to be determined at trial.  

78. Hayride has gained profits attributable to the acts complained of herein in an 

amount unknown and to be determined at trial.  

79. Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride her actual damages and any addi-

tional Hayride profits not considered in computing her actual damages under 17 

U.S.C § 1203(c)(2).  

80. In the alternative and at her election, Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride, 

for each violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3), the full extent of which is 

unknown to Dermansky and which will be proven at trial, statutory damages of up 

to $25,000.00 per violation under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(c)(3)(B).  
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81. Dermansky is further entitled to recover her attorney’s fees and costs from Hayride 

under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1203(b)(4) and (b)(5), including costs relating to filing the case 

22-CCB-0007 in the CCB. 

82. Dermansky is also entitled to permanent injunctive relief to prevent or restrain fur-

ther violations of 17 U.S.C.§ 1202(b) under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(b)(1). 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
Direct Copyright Infringement 

17 U.S.C. §101, et seq. 

83. Dermansky incorporates by reference and realleges the allegations in paragraphs 1 

through 82, inclusive, as though fully set forth herein.  

84. The Chambers Photograph is an original copyrightable work. 

85. Dermansky is the sole author and owner of the Chambers Photograph. 

86. Dermansky has complied in all respects with 17 U.S.C. §101, et seq., and secured 

the exclusive rights in and ownership of the Chambers Photograph, and has filed her 

registration of copyright in the Chambers Photograph with the U.S. Copyright Office 

under its rules and regulations. Dermansky has received Registration No. VA 2-061-

265, with an effective registration date of July 31, 2017, a copy of which is attached 

as Exhibit E.  

87. By publishing and displaying a copy of the Chambers Photograph on its website, 

thehayride.com, in connection with articles titled, “Tasha Clark Amar’s Defenders 

– Who Are The Usual Suspects – Come Out Of The Woodwork,” “The Alton Ster-

ling Fan Club Is Now Threatening To “Shut Down” The Baton Rouge Metro Coun-

cil,” “Gary Chambers Called For A Riot In Baton Rouge This Weekend…”, “Mar-

ital Advice From Gary Chambers,” “Coming Soon: State Senator…Gary Cham-

bers?”, and “Welcome to NBRED Week In Baton Rouge!”, Hayride has infringed 

Dermansky’s copyright in the Chambers Photograph by reproducing, publicly 

Case 2:22-cv-03491   Document 1   Filed 09/27/22   Page 12 of 28



13 

displaying, and distributing the same, without Dermansky’s permission or authori-

zation. 

88. Besides the foregoing, by publishing and displaying a copy of the Chambers Photo-

graph with the text “Everyday I’m Hustlin’” superimposed upon the Chambers Pho-

tograph, on its website, thehayride.com, in connection with articles titled, “Tasha 

Clark Amar’s Defenders – Who Are The Usual Suspects – Come Out Of The Wood-

work,” “The Alton Sterling Fan Club Is Now Threatening To “Shut Down” The 

Baton Rouge Metro Council,” “Gary Chambers Called For A Riot In Baton Rouge 

This Weekend…”, “Marital Advice From Gary Chambers,” “Coming Soon: State 

Senator…Gary Chambers?”, and “Welcome to NBRED Week In Baton Rouge!”, 

Hayride has infringed Dermansky’s copyright in the Chambers Photograph by pre-

paring derivative works based upon the Chambers Photograph, without Derman-

sky’s permission or authorization. 

89. Hayride has done so willfully and intentionally, with full knowledge of Dermansky’s 

copyright, in particular as demonstrated by Hayride’s unauthorized use of the 

Chambers Photograph, which contained CMI, including Dermansky’s copyright no-

tice. 

90. As a direct and proximate result of the copyright infringement detailed herein, Der-

mansky has been and continues to be damaged in an amount to be determined at 

trial. 

91. As a direct and proximate result of the copyright infringement detailed herein, 

Hayride has gained and/or will gain substantial profits because of its infringement 

in an amount unknown and to be determined at trial. 

92. Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride statutory damages of up to 

$150,000.00 under 17 U.S.C. § 504. 
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93. In the alternative, and at her election, Dermansky is entitled to recover her actual 

damages and any additional Hayride profits not calculated in the computation of 

her actual damages in an amount to be determined at trial under 17 U.S.C. § 504. 

94. In addition, Dermansky is entitled to recover her attorneys’ fees and costs under 17 

U.S.C. § 505, including costs relating to filing the case 22-CCB-0007 in the CCB. 

95. In addition, Dermansky is entitled to permanent injunctive relief enjoining and re-

straining Hayrides from infringing her copyright under 17 U.S.C. § 502. 

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
Removal and/or Alteration of Copyright Management Information 

Digital Millennium Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §1202(b) 

96. Dermansky incorporates by reference and realleges the allegations in paragraphs 1 

through 95, inclusive, as though fully set forth herein. 

97. In association with her publication of the Chambers Photograph on her professional 

commercial photography website, Dermansky included a watermark and copyright 

notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Chambers 

Photograph to Dermansky. 

98. On information and belief, when Hayride obtained the Chambers Photograph in an 

unauthorized manner from Dermansky’s professional commercial photography 

website, the Chambers Photograph contained Dermansky’s watermark and copy-

right notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Cham-

bers Photograph to Dermansky. 

99. In association with her publication of the Chambers Photograph on Reveal.com, 

Dermansky included a copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership of 

the copyright in the Chambers Photograph to Dermansky. 

100. Alternatively, on information and belief, when Hayride obtained the Chambers Pho-

tograph in an unauthorized manner from Reveal.com, the Chambers Photograph 
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contained Dermansky’s copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership 

of the copyright in the Chambers Photograph to Dermansky. 

101. The foregoing constitutes CMI, in particular under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(c)(1), (c)(2), 

and (c)(3). 

102. Hayride removed and/or altered Dermansky’s CMI. 

103. Hayride’s removal and/or alteration of the CMI from the Chambers Photograph, as 

described herein, and in particular by removing Dermansky’s watermark and/or cop-

yright notice, was committed intentionally. 

104. None of the acts removing and/or altering the CMI described herein were authorized 

by Dermansky or the law.  

105. Hayride reproduced, publicly displayed, and distributed the Chambers Photograph 

in connection with a March 31, 2017 article titled, “Tasha Clark Amar’s Defenders 

– Who Are The Usual Suspects – Come Out Of The Woodwork,” in connection with 

Hayride’s unauthorized copy of the Chambers Photograph. (See Exhibit G).  

106. Further, Hayride’s distribution of the Chambers Photograph, or copies thereof, was 

done knowing that the Chambers Photograph’s CMI had been removed and/or al-

tered without the authority of Dermansky or the law. 

107. Hayride committed the acts described herein knowing, or having reasonable grounds 

to know, that it would induce, enable, facilitate, and/or conceal an infringement of 

one more or more rights accorded to Dermansky under the U.S. Copyright Act. 

108. Hayride is in violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3). 

109. Dermansky has suffered actual damages because of the acts complained of herein in 

an amount to be determined at trial.  

110. Hayride has gained profits attributable to the acts complained of herein in an 

amount unknown and to be determined at trial.  
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111. Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride her actual damages and any addi-

tional Hayride profits not considered in computing her actual damages under 17 

U.S.C § 1203(c)(2).  

112. In the alternative, and at her election, Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride, 

for each violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3), the full extent of which is 

unknown to Dermansky and which will be proven at trial, statutory damages of up 

to $25,000.00 per violation under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(c)(3)(B).  

113. Dermansky is further entitled to recover her attorney’s fees and costs from Hayride 

under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1203(b)(4) and (b)(5), including costs relating to filing the case 

22-CCB-0007 in the CCB. 

114. Dermansky is also entitled to permanent injunctive relief to prevent or restrain fur-

ther violations of 17 U.S.C.§ 1202(b) under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(b)(1). 

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
Removal and/or Alteration of Copyright Management Information 

Digital Millennium Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §1202(b) 

115. Dermansky incorporates by reference and realleges the allegations in paragraphs 1 

through 114, inclusive, as though fully set forth herein. 

116. In association with her publication of the Chambers Photograph on her professional 

commercial photography website, Dermansky included a watermark and copyright 

notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Chambers 

Photograph to Dermansky. 

117. On information and belief, when Hayride obtained the Chambers Photograph in an 

unauthorized manner from Dermansky’s professional commercial photography 

website, the Chambers Photograph contained Dermansky’s watermark and copy-

right notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Cham-

bers Photograph to Dermansky. 
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118. In association with her publication of the Chambers Photograph on Reveal.com, 

Dermansky included a copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership of 

the copyright in the Chambers Photograph to Dermansky. 

119. Alternatively, on information and belief, when Hayride obtained the Chambers Pho-

tograph in an unauthorized manner from Reveal.com, the Chambers Photograph 

contained Dermansky’s copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership 

of the copyright in the Chambers Photograph to Dermansky. 

120. The foregoing constitutes CMI, in particular under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(c)(1), (c)(2), 

and (c)(3). 

121. Hayride removed and/or altered Dermansky’s CMI. 

122. Hayride’s removal and/or alteration of the CMI from the Chambers Photograph, as 

described herein, and in particular by removing Dermansky’s watermark and/or cop-

yright notice, was committed intentionally. 

123. None of the acts removing and/or altering the CMI described were authorized by 

Dermansky or the law.  

124. Hayride reproduced, publicly displayed, and distributed the Chambers Photograph 

in connection with a May 10, 2017 article titled, “The Alton Sterling Fan Club Is 

Now Threatening To “Shut Down” The Baton Rouge Metro Council,” in connec-

tion with Hayride’s unauthorized copy of the Chambers Photograph. (See Exhibit 

G).  

125. Further, Hayride’s distribution of the Chambers Photograph, or copies thereof, was 

done knowing that the Chambers Photograph’s CMI had been removed and/or al-

tered without the authority of Dermansky or the law. 

126. Hayride committed the acts described knowing, or having reasonable grounds to 

know, that it would induce, enable, facilitate, and/or conceal an infringement of one 

more or more rights accorded to Dermansky under the U.S. Copyright Act. 

127. Hayride is in violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3). 
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128. Dermansky has suffered actual damages because of the acts complained of herein in 

an amount to be determined at trial.  

129. Hayride has gained profits attributable to the acts complained of herein in an 

amount unknown and to be determined at trial.  

130. Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride her actual damages and any addi-

tional Hayride profits not considered in computing her actual damages under 17 

U.S.C § 1203(c)(2).  

131. In the alternative, and at her election, Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride, 

for each violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3), the full extent of which is 

unknown to Dermansky and which will be proven at trial, statutory damages of up 

to $25,000.00 per violation under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(c)(3)(B).  

132. Dermansky is further entitled to recover her attorney’s fees and costs from Hayride 

under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1203(b)(4) and (b)(5), including costs relating to filing the case 

22-CCB-0007 in the CCB. 

133. Dermansky is also entitled to permanent injunctive relief to prevent or restrain fur-

ther violations of 17 U.S.C.§ 1202(b) under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(b)(1). 

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
Removal and/or Alteration of Copyright Management Information 

Digital Millennium Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §1202(b) 

134. Dermansky incorporates by reference and realleges the allegations in paragraphs 1 

through 133, inclusive, as though fully set forth herein. 

135. In association with her publication of the Chambers Photograph on her professional 

commercial photography website, Dermansky included a watermark and copyright 

notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Chambers 

Photograph to Dermansky. 

136. On information and belief, when Hayride obtained the Chambers Photograph in an 

unauthorized manner from Dermansky’s professional commercial photography 
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website, the Chambers Photograph contained Dermansky’s watermark and copy-

right notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Cham-

bers Photograph to Dermansky. 

137. In association with her publication of the Chambers Photograph on Reveal.com, 

Dermansky included a copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership of 

the copyright in the Chambers Photograph to Dermansky. 

138. Alternatively, on information and belief, when Hayride obtained the Chambers Pho-

tograph in an unauthorized manner from Reveal.com, the Chambers Photograph 

contained Dermansky’s copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership 

of the copyright in the Chambers Photograph to Dermansky. 

139. The foregoing constitutes CMI, in particular under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(c)(1), (c)(2), 

and (c)(3). 

140. Hayride removed and/or altered Dermansky’s CMI. 

141. Hayride’s removal and/or alteration of the CMI from the Chambers Photograph, as 

described herein, and in particular by removing Dermansky’s watermark and/or cop-

yright notice, was committed intentionally. 

142. None of the acts removing and/or altering the CMI described were authorized by 

Dermansky or the law.  

143. Hayride reproduced, publicly displayed, and distributed the Chambers Photograph 

in connection with a June 18, 2017 article titled, “Gary Chambers Called For A Riot 

In Baton Rouge This Weekend…”, in connection with Hayride’s unauthorized copy 

of the Chambers Photograph. (See Exhibit G).  

144. Further, Hayride’s distribution of the Chambers Photograph, or copies thereof, was 

done knowing that the Chambers Photograph’s CMI had been removed and/or al-

tered without the authority of Dermansky or the law. 
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145. Hayride committed the acts described knowing, or having reasonable grounds to 

know, that it would induce, enable, facilitate, and/or conceal an infringement of one 

more or more rights accorded to Dermansky under the U.S. Copyright Act. 

146. Hayride is in violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3). 

147. Dermansky has suffered actual damages because of the acts complained of herein in 

an amount to be determined at trial.  

148. Hayride has gained profits attributable to the acts complained of herein in an 

amount unknown and to be determined at trial.  

149. Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride her actual damages and any addi-

tional Hayride profits not considered in computing her actual damages under 17 

U.S.C § 1203(c)(2).  

150. In the alternative, and at her election, Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride, 

for each violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3), the full extent of which is 

unknown to Dermansky and which will be proven at trial, statutory damages of up 

to $25,000.00 per violation under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(c)(3)(B).  

151. Dermansky is further entitled to recover her attorney’s fees and costs from Hayride 

under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1203(b)(4) and (b)(5), including costs relating to filing the case 

22-CCB-0007 in the CCB. 

152. Dermansky is also entitled to permanent injunctive relief to prevent or restrain fur-

ther violations of 17 U.S.C.§ 1202(b) under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(b)(1). 

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
Removal and/or Alteration of Copyright Management Information 

Digital Millennium Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §1202(b) 

153. Dermansky incorporates by reference and realleges the allegations in paragraphs 1 

through 152, inclusive, as though fully set forth herein. 

154. In association with her publication of the Chambers Photograph on her professional 

commercial photography website, Dermansky included a watermark and copyright 
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notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Chambers 

Photograph to Dermansky. 

155. On information and belief, when Hayride obtained the Chambers Photograph in an 

unauthorized manner from Dermansky’s professional commercial photography 

website, the Chambers Photograph contained Dermansky’s watermark and copy-

right notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Cham-

bers Photograph to Dermansky. 

156. In association with her publication of the Chambers Photograph on Reveal.com, 

Dermansky included a copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership of 

the copyright in the Chambers Photograph to Dermansky. 

157. Alternatively, on information and belief, when Hayride obtained the Chambers Pho-

tograph in an unauthorized manner from Reveal.com, the Chambers Photograph 

contained Dermansky’s copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership 

of the copyright in the Chambers Photograph to Dermansky. 

158. The foregoing constitutes CMI, in particular under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(c)(1), (c)(2), 

and (c)(3). 

159. Hayride removed and/or altered Dermansky’s CMI. 

160. Hayride’s removal and/or alteration of the CMI from the Chambers Photograph, as 

described herein, and in particular by removing Dermansky’s watermark and/or cop-

yright notice, was committed intentionally. 

161. None of the acts removing and/or altering the CMI described were authorized by 

Dermansky or the law.  

162. Hayride reproduced, publicly displayed, and distributed the Chambers Photograph 

in connection with a July 11, 2017 article titled, “Marital Advice From Gary Cham-

bers,” in connection with Hayride’s unauthorized copy of the Chambers Photo-

graph. (See Exhibit G).  
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163. Further, Hayride’s distribution of the Chambers Photograph, or copies thereof, was 

done knowing that the Chambers Photograph’s CMI had been removed and/or al-

tered without the authority of Dermansky or the law. 

164. Hayride committed the acts described knowing, or having reasonable grounds to 

know, that it would induce, enable, facilitate, and/or conceal an infringement of one 

more or more rights accorded to Dermansky under the U.S. Copyright Act. 

165. Hayride is in violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3). 

166. Dermansky has suffered actual damages because of the acts complained of herein in 

an amount to be determined at trial.  

167. Hayride has gained profits attributable to the acts complained of herein in an 

amount unknown and to be determined at trial.  

168. Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride her actual damages and any addi-

tional Hayride profits not considered in computing her actual damages under 17 

U.S.C § 1203(c)(2).  

169. In the alternative, and at her election, Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride, 

for each violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3), the full extent of which is 

unknown to Dermansky and which will be proven at trial, statutory damages of up 

to $25,000.00 per violation under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(c)(3)(B).  

170. Dermansky is further entitled to recover her attorney’s fees and costs from Hayride 

under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1203(b)(4) and (b)(5), including costs relating to filing the case 

22-CCB-0007 in the CCB. 

171. Dermansky is also entitled to permanent injunctive relief to prevent or restrain fur-

ther violations of 17 U.S.C.§ 1202(b) under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(b)(1). 
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NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
Removal and/or Alteration of Copyright Management Information 

Digital Millennium Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §1202(b) 

172. Dermansky incorporates by reference and realleges the allegations in paragraphs 1 

through 171, inclusive, as though fully set forth herein. 

173. In association with her publication of the Chambers Photograph on her professional 

commercial photography website, Dermansky included a watermark and copyright 

notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Chambers 

Photograph to Dermansky. 

174. On information and belief, when Hayride obtained the Chambers Photograph in an 

unauthorized manner from Dermansky’s professional commercial photography 

website, the Chambers Photograph contained Dermansky’s watermark and copy-

right notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Cham-

bers Photograph to Dermansky. 

175. In association with her publication of the Chambers Photograph on Reveal.com, 

Dermansky included a copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership of 

the copyright in the Chambers Photograph to Dermansky. 

176. Alternatively, on information and belief, when Hayride obtained the Chambers Pho-

tograph in an unauthorized manner from Reveal.com, the Chambers Photograph 

contained Dermansky’s copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership 

of the copyright in the Chambers Photograph to Dermansky. 

177. The foregoing constitutes CMI, in particular under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(c)(1), (c)(2), 

and (c)(3). 

178. Hayride removed and/or altered Dermansky’s CMI. 

179. Hayride’s removal and/or alteration of the CMI from the Chambers Photograph, as 

described herein, and in particular by removing Dermansky’s watermark and/or cop-

yright notice, was committed intentionally. 
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180. None of the acts removing and/or altering the CMI described were authorized by 

Dermansky or the law.  

181. Hayride reproduced, publicly displayed, and distributed the Chambers Photograph 

in connection with a December 17, 2018 article titled, “Coming Soon: State Sena-

tor…Gary Chambers?”, in connection with Hayride’s unauthorized copy of the 

Chambers Photograph. (See Exhibit G).  

182. Further, Hayride’s distribution of the Chambers Photograph, or copies thereof, was 

done knowing that the Chambers Photograph’s CMI had been removed and/or al-

tered without the authority of Dermansky or the law. 

183. Hayride committed the acts described knowing, or having reasonable grounds to 

know, that it would induce, enable, facilitate, and/or conceal an infringement of one 

more or more rights accorded to Dermansky under the U.S. Copyright Act. 

184. Hayride is in violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3). 

185. Dermansky has suffered actual damages because of the acts complained of herein in 

an amount to be determined at trial.  

186. Hayride has gained profits attributable to the acts complained of herein in an 

amount unknown and to be determined at trial.  

187. Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride her actual damages and any addi-

tional Hayride profits not considered in computing her actual damages under 17 

U.S.C § 1203(c)(2).  

188. In the alternative, and at her election, Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride, 

for each violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3), the full extent of which is 

unknown to Dermansky and which will be proven at trial, statutory damages of up 

to $25,000.00 per violation under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(c)(3)(B).  

189. Dermansky is further entitled to recover her attorney’s fees and costs from Hayride 

under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1203(b)(4) and (b)(5), including costs relating to filing the case 

22-CCB-0007 in the CCB. 

Case 2:22-cv-03491   Document 1   Filed 09/27/22   Page 24 of 28



25 

190. Dermansky is also entitled to permanent injunctive relief to prevent or restrain fur-

ther violations of 17 U.S.C.§ 1202(b) under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(b)(1). 

TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
Removal and/or Alteration of Copyright Management Information 

Digital Millennium Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §1202(b) 

191. Dermansky incorporates by reference and realleges the allegations in paragraphs 1 

through 190, inclusive, as though fully set forth herein. 

192. In association with her publication of the Chambers Photograph on her professional 

commercial photography website, Dermansky included a watermark and copyright 

notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Chambers 

Photograph to Dermansky. 

193. On information and belief, when Hayride obtained the Chambers Photograph in an 

unauthorized manner from Dermansky’s professional commercial photography 

website, the Chambers Photograph contained Dermansky’s watermark and copy-

right notice attributing the authorship and ownership of the copyright in the Cham-

bers Photograph to Dermansky. 

194. In association with her publication of the Chambers Photograph on Reveal.com, 

Dermansky included a copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership of 

the copyright in the Chambers Photograph to Dermansky. 

195. Alternatively, on information and belief, when Hayride obtained the Chambers Pho-

tograph in an unauthorized manner from Reveal.com, the Chambers Photograph 

contained Dermansky’s copyright notice attributing the authorship and ownership 

of the copyright in the Chambers Photograph to Dermansky. 

196. The foregoing constitutes CMI, in particular under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(c)(1), (c)(2), 

and (c)(3). 

197. Hayride removed and/or altered Dermansky’s CMI. 
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198. Hayride’s removal and/or alteration of the CMI from the Chambers Photograph, as 

described herein, and in particular by removing Dermansky’s watermark and/or cop-

yright notice, was committed intentionally. 

199. None of the acts removing and/or altering the CMI described were authorized by 

Dermansky or the law.  

200. Hayride reproduced, publicly displayed, and distributed the Chambers Photograph 

in connection with a May 7, 2019 article titled, “Welcome to NBRED Week In Ba-

ton Rouge!”, in connection with Hayride’s unauthorized copy of the Chambers Pho-

tograph. (See Exhibit G).  

201. Further, Hayride’s distribution of the Chambers Photograph, or copies thereof, was 

done knowing that the Chambers Photograph’s CMI had been removed and/or al-

tered without the authority of Dermansky or the law. 

202. Hayride committed the acts described knowing, or having reasonable grounds to 

know, that it would induce, enable, facilitate, and/or conceal an infringement of one 

more or more rights accorded to Dermansky under the U.S. Copyright Act. 

203. Hayride is in violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3). 

204. Dermansky has suffered actual damages because of the acts complained of herein in 

an amount to be determined at trial.  

205. Hayride has gained profits attributable to the acts complained of herein in an 

amount unknown and to be determined at trial.  

206. Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride her actual damages and any addi-

tional Hayride profits not considered in computing her actual damages under 17 

U.S.C § 1203(c)(2).  

207. In the alternative, and at her election, Dermansky is entitled to recover from Hayride, 

for each violation of 17 U.S.C. §§ 1202(b)(1) and (b)(3), the full extent of which is 

unknown to Dermansky and which will be proven at trial, statutory damages of up 

to $25,000.00 per violation under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(c)(3)(B).  
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208. Dermansky is further entitled to recover her attorney’s fees and costs from Hayride 

under 17 U.S.C. §§ 1203(b)(4) and (b)(5), including costs relating to filing the case 

22-CCB-0007 in the CCB. 

209. Dermansky is also entitled to permanent injunctive relief to prevent or restrain fur-

ther violations of 17 U.S.C.§ 1202(b) under 17 U.S.C. § 1203(b)(1). 

Prayer for Relief 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff Julie Dermansky prays for judgment in her favor and against 

Hayride Media, LLC: 

(a) For an award of monetary damages in an amount to be proven at trial, but 

which is no less than $500,000.00; 

(b) For her attorneys’ fees and costs; 

(c) For a permanent injunction preventing further violations of her rights; 

(d) For interest as allowed by law; and 

(e) For such relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

Jury Trial Demand 

Under Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Dermansky demands a trial by jury 

for all issues so triable. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 /s/ Andrew T. Lilly 
Andrew T. Lilly (La. 32559) 
Lilly PLLC 
4907 Magazine Street 
New Orleans, Louisiana 70115 
t: (504) 812-6388 
e: andrew@atlpllc.com 

and 

 
 
 

Case 2:22-cv-03491   Document 1   Filed 09/27/22   Page 27 of 28

mailto:andrew@atlpllc.com


28 

David Leichtman (N.Y. 2824480)2 
e: dleichtman@leichtmanlaw.com 
Alexander B. Katz (N.Y. 5922737)3 
e: akatz@leichtmanlaw.com  
Leichtman Law PLLC 
228 East 45th Street, Suite 605 
New York, NY 10017 
t: (212) 419-5210 

Attorneys for Julie Dermansky 

 
2 Motion to appear pro hac vice forthcoming. 3 Motion to appear pro hac vice forthcoming. 
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Home after home is underwater in the Livingston Parish devastation. Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

The truth will not reveal itself.

SUPPORT OUR WORK TODAY

CLIMATE CHANGE, SUSTAINABILITY

Wading through the aftermath of
Louisiana’s 1,000-year flood
by Julie Dermansky

September 26, 2016
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A Home Depot in Livingston Parish, Baton Rouge, is submerged on Aug. 15 after record-breaking

�ooding caused by more than 2 feet of rain over 48 hours. Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie

Dermansky for Reveal
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Mary Bradford, a widowed 78-year-old, cleans the gutted house she has lived in for more than 30 years

about �ve weeks after the �ood. Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

Mary Bradford invited me into her gutted home in Baton Rouge earlier this

month after she saw me taking pictures of the pile of her discarded household

items. It had been five weeks since the 1,000-year flood hit southern Louisiana.
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Floodwaters make Interstate 10 impassable on Aug. 15. The highway, which connects Baton Rouge to

New Orleans, was closed in the days following the storm. Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie

Dermansky for Reveal
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Residents in Paulina, Louisiana, say they were able to keep �oodwater out of their homes with sandbags

and pumps going around the clock.Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

The flood was caused by a storm that dropped up to 29 inches of rain in some

areas in less than 48 hours and caused rivers to crest at record-breaking

heights.

Case 2:22-cv-03491   Document 1-4   Filed 09/27/22   Page 6 of 20



9/22/22, 11:59 AM Wading through the aftermath of Louisiana’s 1,000-year flood - Reveal

https://revealnews.org/article/wading-through-the-aftermath-of-louisianas-1000-year-flood/ 6/19

Three people in Denham Springs, Louisiana, encounter a cow that lost its way on Aug. 15. Credit: Julie

Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

Case 2:22-cv-03491   Document 1-4   Filed 09/27/22   Page 7 of 20



9/22/22, 11:59 AM Wading through the aftermath of Louisiana’s 1,000-year flood - Reveal

https://revealnews.org/article/wading-through-the-aftermath-of-louisianas-1000-year-flood/ 7/19

A Denham Springs supermarket remains �ooded on Sept. 15, weeks after historic rainfall. Credit: Julie

Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

A rusted casket sits unearthed at a �ooded cemetery in Zachary, Louisiana, on Aug. 20. Credit: Julie

Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

Statistically, a flood of these proportions has a .001 chance of happening in any

given year, which is why it’s called a 1,000-year flood. The rain, along with

questionable water-management decisions, made this flood a disaster that the

Red Cross deemed the worst in the United States since Hurricane Sandy struck

the East Coast.
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Roxanna Johnson, of East Fairlane, a Baton Rouge subdivision, discusses on Aug. 19 being rescued by

boat during the storm. Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

Many of the homes that were flooded in the Baton Rouge area still have

contents and debris that haven’t been hauled away, according to the Baton

Rouge Advocate.
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Piles of belongings line the streets in Denham Springs, Louisiana, on Sept. 1 as homeowners hold on to

hope that they’ll be able to rebuild. A dancing Santa is getting “his last dance,” said homeowner Lisa

Herbert.Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

Bradford considers herself luckier than most. She has flood insurance and she

was able to get family, friends and volunteers from local churches to gut her

house within the first week of the flood.
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An American �ag hangs above �oodwater in Sorrento, Louisiana, on Aug. 20 as a girl clutches her doll.

Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

Tamara Williams’ cellphone shows a picture of the �ooded Baton Rouge church where a funeral was held

Case 2:22-cv-03491   Document 1-4   Filed 09/27/22   Page 11 of 20



9/22/22, 11:59 AM Wading through the aftermath of Louisiana’s 1,000-year flood - Reveal

https://revealnews.org/article/wading-through-the-aftermath-of-louisianas-1000-year-flood/ 11/19

for slain Baton Rouge police o�cer Montrell Jackson. Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie

Dermansky for Reveal

All the same, “It gets overwhelming because it goes on day after day after day,

and there is no relief,” Bradford told me. Her eyes teared up as she explained

how difficult it is to look at the “piles of stuff in the front – all of your

memories.”

Carletta Cannon surveys the extensive damage to her home and belongings on Sept. 3 in the

Townhomes of Sherwood Forest complex in Baton Rouge. Cannon has been displaced by the �ood and

said all of her clothes were destroyed. Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for

Reveal

Once search and rescue was over, people started looking for explanations

about why many areas that never flooded before did so this time.

In Walker, Louisiana, Mayor Rick Ramsey said he is planning to sue the state

and federal government for building a dividing wall on Interstate 12 that he
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believes acted as a dam for the rainwater during the storm. Video shot during

the storm showed water hitting the wall and being pushed into the city instead

of flowing across the interstate. Had the divider not been built, he

contends, much of the flooding would have been averted.

Bradford, some local officials and residents in the Baton Rouge area

question if their homes would have been spared if the state had finished the

Comite River diversion canal, a project government officials have talked about

for 33 years.

A cleanup crew sets about clearing debris from Walker, Louisiana. Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal
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A temporary land�ll creates a mountain of storm debris on Sept. 15 in Baton Rouge. Credit: Julie

Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal
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Terry Dougan (on crane), a disaster cleanup worker from Arkansas, is one in an army of workers from

around the country who came to the Baton Rouge area to help with the massive relief e�ort. Credit: Julie

Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

I started photographing the aftermath of the flood on August 14, when the rain

began to taper off.  It was a month after Baton Rouge’s racial tensions made

national news following the police shooting death of Alton Sterling and the

killing of three officers by a lone gunman.

Community activist Gary Chambers, who has led a call for justice in the Baton Rouge community

following the police shooting death of Alton Sterling, visits the mostly black neighborhood of Glen Oaks,

where most homes were �ooded.Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

Community activist Gary Chambers, publisher of the Rouge Collection, said

he is continuing to fight for justice for Alton Sterling and now doing what he

can to help the African-American community recover from both hardships.
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Still back�ow water sits trapped in Assumption Parish, Louisiana, on Sept. 2. The local government

made cuts in a road to give the water a path to drain. Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie

Dermansky for Reveal
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A vehicle remains stuck in �ooded Ascension Parish, Louisiana, on Aug. 27. Credit: Julie Dermansky for

Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

“We have an abundance of issues to fix,” Chambers said on his Facebook Live

feed. Among them is the issue of where potentially toxic storm debris would

be dumped.  Two of the sites officials picked impact African-American

communities: a long-controversial landfill in Alsen, north of Baton Rouge,

and a temporary landfill  next to Monticello, on the city’s east side.
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Leroy James, of East Fairlane, said he and his family will do their best to �x their home because they have

nowhere else to go. Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

Zanie Whitehead shows a photo on Sunday of Donald Trump’s Aug. 19 visit to Chaperral Drive in Denham
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Springs. Heaps of debris and belongings remain on the street six weeks after the �ood. Credit: Julie

Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

Despite the pain caused by the flooding, there are signs of humor and faith in

the wreckage. A couple of homeowners deemed themselves winners of the

“Yard of the Month,” and in Central, in East Baton Rouge Parish, I spotted

some spray-painted neon smiley faces.

Aaron Sutton, standing outside his �ooded Baton Rouge home on Sunday, compares the aftermath of

the �ood with Marine boot camp. Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal Credit: Julie Dermansky for Reveal

American flags on porches and the tops of junk piles raise the question: Did

those who survived the flood win a battle or live to fight another day?
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Type A claim for infringement

Would you like to proceed as a
"smaller claims" proceeding
(including the $5,000 monetary
limit) instead of the standard
CCB small claims proceeding?

No

Claimant Name

Julie Dermansky

City

Mandeville, LA

Authorized representative information

Name

David Leichtman

Law firm, clinic, or pro bono legal services
organization name

Leichtman Law PLLC

Email

dleichtman@leichtmanlaw.com

Phone

917-597-4417

Address

228 East 45th Street, Suite 605 
New York, NY 10017

Respondent Organization

Hayride Media, LLC

Infringement claim: Works
infringed Title of work

5.06.14 Jake Groby

Author(s)

Julie Dermansky

Has the work been registered by the Copyright Office?

Yes

Registration number

VA0002100104

Effective date

03/24/2018

Type of work

Pictorial Graphic and Sculptural (such as two-dimensional and three-dimensional works of art, graphic art,
and photographs)

Describe the work

Photograph of Local Politician regarding Environmental Activism

Go to case details
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Title of work

Flooding in Southern Louisiana238

Author(s)

Julie Dermansky

Has the work been registered by the Copyright Office?

Yes

Registration number

VA0002160265

Effective date

07/01/2017

Type of work

Pictorial Graphic and Sculptural (such as two-dimensional and three-dimensional works of art, graphic art,
and photographs)

Describe the work

Photograph of Environmental Activist during Flood

Infringement claim: Wrongful
activities

Wrongful activities

Reproduce the work
Create a derivative work
Distribute copies of the work
Publicly display the work

Is the infringement ongoing?

No

Infringement dates

July 2015 - February 2021

Where the alleged infringing acts occurred, such as a physical place or online. If unknown, type
unknown.

On or around July 23, 2015, and July 27, 2015. Respondent published two (2) separate articles using the 
infringing Groby Photograph (Reg. No. 2-100-104), as further described below. 
 
On or around March 31, 2017, March 10, 2017, June 18, 2017, July 11, 2017, December 17, 2018, and May 7, 
2019. Respondent published six (6) separate articles using the infringing Flooding Photograph (Reg. No. 2-
160-265), as further described below.

Describe the infringement

Respondent reproduced, displayed, and distributed unauthorized copies of Claimant’s Groby Photograph on its 
website, thehayride.com. Respondent reproduced, displayed, and distributed unauthorized copies of 
Claimant’s Flooding Photograph on its website, thehayride.com, and additionally created an unauthorized 
derivative work by superimposing the text “Everyday I’m Hustlin’” over the Flooding Photograph and otherwise 
altering that Photograph. 
 
In addition, despite the presence of Claimant’s authorship credit when the photographs were first published on 
two separate authorized third-party websites, in each case with authorship credits indicating Julie Dermansky 
as the author, Respondent omitted Claimant’s name from the infringing articles, inducing, facilitating, and 
encouraging further downstream infringement. 
Claimant never authorized Respondent to reproduce, publish, display, or make use of any kind of the 
Photographs.
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Are any of the respondents online service providers?

No

Description of harm suffered and relief sought

$30,000 (15 x 2) 
- Lost license fees/royalties 
- Disgorgement of Respondent’s profits 
- Omitted attribution induced, facilitated, and encouraged further downstream infringement 
- Creation and exploitation of unauthorized derivative work.

Documentation Infringing Use -- Groby Photo -- The Hayride.pdf
Legitimate Publication -- Groby Photo -- The Hayride.pdf
Legitimate Publication (compressed) -- Flooding Photo -- The Hayride.pdf
Prior Settlements and Licenses Chart -- The Hayride.pdf
'104 Registration -- Groby Photo-- The Hayride.pdf
'265 Registration --Flooding Photo -- The Hayride.pdf
Infringing Use -- Flooding Photo-- The Hayride.pdf
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